3rd Edition

Tax For Australians

tax

time

Learn to:

- Lodge your tax return and maximise your refund
- Minimise your small business tax bill
- Keep on top of changes to the rules
- Make the most of tax-free investing and super

Jimmy B. Prince, FCPA

Tax professional and business educator

Get More and Do More at Dummies.com[®]



Cheat Sheets include

- Checklists
- Charts
- Common Instructions
- And Other Good Stuff!

To access the Cheat Sheet created specifically for this book, www.dummies.com/cheatsheet/taxforaustralians

Get Smart at Dummies.com

Dummies.com makes your life easier with thousands of answers on everything from removing wallpaper to using the latest version of Windows.

Cheat Gheet

Check out our

- Videos
- Illustrated Articles
- Step-by-Step Instructions

Want a weekly dose of Dummies? Sign up for Newsletters on

- Digital Photography
- Microsoft Windows & Office
- Personal Finance & Investing
- Health & Wellness
- Computing, iPods & Mobile Phones
- eBay
- Internet
- Food, Home & Garden

Find out "HOW" at Dummies.com

3rd Edition

Tax For Australians For DUMMIES®

by Jimmy B. Prince



Wiley Publishing Australia Pty Ltd

Tax For Australians For Dummies[®], 3rd Edition

Published by Wiley Publishing Australia Pty Ltd 42 McDougall Street Milton, Qld 4064 www.dummies.com

Copyright @ 2012 Wiley Publishing Australia Pty Ltd

The moral rights of the author have been asserted.

National Library of Australia Cataloguing-in-Publication data:

Author:	Prince, Jimmy B.	
Title:	Tax For Australians For Du	ummies / Jin
Edition:	3rd ed.	
ISBN:	978 1 11822 291 1 (pbk.)	
Notes:	Includes index. Previous ed.: 2011	
Subjects:	Taxation — Australia. Income tax — Australia.	
Dewey Number:	336.200994	

All rights reserved. No part of this book, including interior design, cover design and icons, may be reproduced or transmitted in any form, by any means (electronic, photocopying, recording or otherwise) without the prior written permission of the Publisher. Requests to the Publisher for permission should be addressed to the Contracts & Licensing section of John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd, 42 McDougall Street, Milton, Qld 4064, or email auspermission@wiley.com.

Cover image: © Brooke Becker/Shutterstock.com

Typeset by diacriTech, Chennai, India

Printed in China by Printplus Limited

 $10 \ 9 \ 8 \ 7 \ 6 \ 5 \ 4 \ 3 \ 2 \ 1$

Limit of Liability/Disclaimer of Warranty: THE PUBLISHER AND THE AUTHOR MAKE NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES WITH RESPECT TO THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THE CONTENTS OF THIS WORK AND SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, WARRANTIES OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. NO WARRANTY MAY BE CREATED OR EXTENDED BY SALES OR PROMOTIONAL MATERIALS. THE ADVICE AND STRATEGIES CONTAINED HEREIN MAY NOT BE SUITABLE FOR EVERY SITUATION. THIS WORK IS SOLD WITH THE UNDERSTANDING THAT THE PUBLISHER IS NOT ENGAGED IN RENDERING LEGAL, ACCOUNTING, OR OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES. IF PROFESSIONAL ASSISTANCE IS REQUIRED, THE SERVICES OF A COMPETENT PROFESSIONAL PERSON SHOULD BE SOUGHT. NEITHER THE PUBLISHER NOR THE AUTHOR SHALL BE LIABLE FOR DAMAGES ARISING HEREFROM. THE FACT THAT AN ORGANISATION OR WEBSITE IS REFERRED TO IN THIS WORK AS A CITATION AND/OR A POTENTIAL SOURCE OF FURTHER INFORMATION DOES NOT MEAN THAT THE AUTHOR OR THE PUBLISHER ENDORSES THE INFORMATION THE ORGANISATION OR WEBSITE MAY PROVIDE OR RECOMMENDATIONS IT MAY MAKE. FURTHER, READERS SHOULD BE AWARE THAT INTERNET WEBSITES LISTED IN THIS WORK MAY HAVE CHANGED OR DISAPPEARED BETWEEN WHEN THIS WORK WAS WRITTEN AND WHEN IT IS READ.

Trademarks: Wiley, the Wiley logo, For Dummies, the Dummies Man logo, A Reference for the Rest of Usl, The Dummies Way, Making Everything Easier, dummies.com and related trade dress are trademarks or registered trademarks of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and/or its affiliates in the United States and other countries, and may not be used without written permission. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners. Wiley Publishing Australia Pty Ltd is not associated with any product or vendor mentioned in this book.

Dedication

This book is dedicated to my wife, Maria Rosa Prince.

About the Author

Jimmy Prince is a fellow of CPA Australia and a tax specialist. He is a former lecturer and tutor in income tax law at La Trobe University, Melbourne Institute of Technology and AMI Education, and teaches a number of investment courses for the CAE in Melbourne. He is the author of several investment books including *Shares & Taxation, Property & Taxation* and *Superannuation & Taxation.* In 2000, Jimmy was nominated for an Adult Learners Week 2000 outstanding tutor award.

In his earlier years, Jimmy worked for the Australian Taxation Office and also consulted to CPA Australia — Technicall.

Author's Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the staff and editors at Wiley Publishing Australia Pty Ltd in helping me complete this third edition.

Publisher's Acknowledgements

We're proud of this book; please send us your comments through our online registration form located at http://dummies.custhelp.com.

Some of the people who helped bring this book to market include the following:

Acquisitions, Editorial and Media	Production
Development	Graphics: diacriTech
Project Editor: Charlotte Duff	Cartoons: Glenn Lumsden
Acquisitions Editor: Rebecca Crisp	Proofreader: Jenny Scepanovic
Editorial Manager: Hannah Bennett	Indexer: Don Jordan, Antipodes Indexing

The author and publisher would like to thank the following copyright holders, organisations and individuals for their permission to reproduce copyright material in this book.

• Material from Australian Taxation Office © Commonwealth of Australia, reproduced by permission.

Every effort has been made to trace the ownership of copyright material. Information that enables the publisher to rectify any error or omission in subsequent editions is welcome. In such cases, please contact the Permissions Section of John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd.

Contents at a Glance

. . . .

. .

.

.

Introduction	1
Part 1: How You're Taxed in Australia	7
Chapter 1: Understanding the Australian Tax System	9
Chapter 2: Taxing Australians: The Formula You Had to Have	
Chapter 3: Lodging Your Tax Return: This One Is for the Natio	n31
Chapter 4: Receiving a Visit: When the Tax Office	
Comes Knocking	43
Part 11: Income from Personal Exertion	49
Chapter 5: Taxing Employees: Working Class Man	
Chapter 6: Living in Your Castle: Main Residence	
Chapter 7: Taxing Issues That Affect Your Children	73
Part 111: Tax-Effective Investments	83
Chapter 8: Interesting Stuff: Bank Deposits and Tax	
Chapter 9: Owning Part of the Company: Investing in Shares	
Chapter 10: Building Your Dreams: Investing in	
Bricks and Mortar	101
Chapter 11: Catching Up on Capital Gains Tax	115
Part 1V: Running a Business	131
Chapter 12: Structuring Your Business for Maximum Gain	133
Chapter 13: Starting a Business: On Your Mark! Get Set! Go!	
Chapter 14: Reducing Your Small Business Tax Bill	161
Chapter 15: Collecting Tax for the Government:	
Goods and Services Tax	173
Chapter 16: Living on the Fringe: Fringe Benefits Tax	181
Chapter 17: Getting Wealthy: CGT and Small Business	191

Part V: Thinking Long Term	. 199
Chapter 18: Preparing for Retirement Using Superannuation	201
Chapter 19: Reaping What You Sow: Receiving a	
Pension and Government Concessions	217
Chapter 20: Death and Taxes: Wills and Asset Distribution	227
Part VI: The Part of Tens	. 235
Chapter 21: Ten Ways to Minimise Your Tax while Keeping	
the Tax Office Happy	237
Chapter 22: Ten of the Top Retirement Tax Tips	245
Appendix A: Taxing the Visitors: Non-Residents	253
Glossary	. 259
Index	. 265

Table of Contents

ntrodu	ction	1
	About This Book	2
	Conventions Used in This Book	2
	What You're Not to Read	2
	Foolish Assumptions	3
	How This Book is Organised	3
	Part I: How You're Taxed in Australia	
	Part II: Income from Personal Exertion	3
	Part III: Tax-Effective Investments	4
	Part IV: Running a Business	4
	Part V: Thinking Long Term	4
	Part VI: The Part of Tens	4
	Icons Used in This Book	5
	Where to Go from Here	5
	How You're Taxed in Australia	
	oter 1: Understanding the Australian Tax System	9
	oter 1: Understanding the Australian Tax System Explaining the Australian Tax System	9
	Iter 1: Understanding the Australian Tax System Explaining the Australian Tax System Understanding Your Income Tax Rates	9 9
	Ster 1: Understanding the Australian Tax System Explaining the Australian Tax System Understanding Your Income Tax Rates Federal taxes	9
	Deter 1: Understanding the Australian Tax System Explaining the Australian Tax System Understanding Your Income Tax Rates Federal taxes State taxes	9
	bter 1: Understanding the Australian Tax System Explaining the Australian Tax System Understanding Your Income Tax Rates Federal taxes State taxes Local taxes	9
	explaining the Australian Tax System Explaining the Australian Tax System Understanding Your Income Tax Rates Federal taxes State taxes Local taxes Taxing Major Income Streams	9 9 10 11 12 12 12
	explaining the Australian Tax System Explaining the Australian Tax System Understanding Your Income Tax Rates Federal taxes State taxes Local taxes Taxing Major Income Streams Taxing your treasures: CGT assets	9 9 10 11 12 12 12
	explaining the Australian Tax System Explaining the Australian Tax System Understanding Your Income Tax Rates Federal taxes State taxes Local taxes Taxing Major Income Streams Taxing your treasures: CGT assets Bringing home the money: International	9 9 10 11 12 12 12 13
	explaining the Australian Tax System Explaining the Australian Tax System Understanding Your Income Tax Rates Federal taxes State taxes Local taxes Taxing Major Income Streams Taxing your treasures: CGT assets Bringing home the money: International sources of income	9
Chap	explaining the Australian Tax System Explaining the Australian Tax System Understanding Your Income Tax Rates Federal taxes State taxes Local taxes Taxing Major Income Streams Taxing your treasures: CGT assets Bringing home the money: International sources of income Taxing a Company	9
Chap	oter 1: Understanding the Australian Tax System Explaining the Australian Tax System Understanding Your Income Tax Rates Federal taxes State taxes Local taxes Taxing Major Income Streams Taxing your treasures: CGT assets Bringing home the money: International sources of income Taxing a Company oter 2: Taxing Australians: The Formula	9
Chap	Atter 1: Understanding the Australian Tax System Explaining the Australian Tax System Understanding Your Income Tax Rates Federal taxes State taxes Local taxes Taxing Major Income Streams Taxing your treasures: CGT assets Bringing home the money: International sources of income Taxing a Company Deter 2: Taxing Australians: The Formula to Have	9 9 10 10 10 12 13 13 15 17
Chap	Deter 1: Understanding the Australian Tax System Explaining the Australian Tax System Understanding Your Income Tax Rates Federal taxes State taxes Local taxes Taxing Major Income Streams Taxing your treasures: CGT assets Bringing home the money: International sources of income Taxing a Company Deter 2: Taxing Australians: The Formula Doing Your Sums	9 9 10 10 12 12 12 12 13 13 13 15 17
Chap	Deter 1: Understanding the Australian Tax System Explaining the Australian Tax System	9 9 10 10 12 12 12 12 13 13 15 17 17 18
Chap	Deter 1: Understanding the Australian Tax System Explaining the Australian Tax System Understanding Your Income Tax Rates Federal taxes State taxes Local taxes Taxing Major Income Streams Taxing your treasures: CGT assets Bringing home the money: International sources of income Taxing a Company Deter 2: Taxing Australians: The Formula Doing Your Sums	9 9 10 10 12 12 12 12 13 13 13 15 17 17 18 19

Keeping What You Receive: Exempt Income21

Viii Tax For Australians For Dummies, 3rd Edition _____

Reducing Your Tax Bill: General Deductions	23
Checking out the first leg: First positive lim	ıb24
Examining the next leg: Second positive lin	ıb25
Being aware of the negatives: Negative limb	os26
Figuring out when something is incurred	
Looking for Tax Offsets	30
Chapter 3: Lodging Your Tax Return:	04
This One Is for the Nation	
Preparing Your Individual Tax Return	
Receiving a PAYG payment summary	
Claiming car expenses	
Claiming travel expenses	
Claiming a standard deduction	
Claiming tax offsets (rebates)	
Receiving a Thank-You Note: Notice of Assessme	nt38
Chapter 4: Receiving a Visit: When the Tax Office	
Comes Knocking	
Being Honest with Yourself: Self-Assessment	43
Getting a Reality Check: Tax Audit	
Preparing for an audit	
Points to keep in mind	
Mending Your Ways: Amendments and Objection	s47
Part II: Income from Personal Exertion	
Chapter 5: Taxing Employees: Working Class Man	
Earning a Living: Salary and Wages	
Determining your employment status	
Reducing the burden: Receiving an allowan	
Adding to the nest egg via SG	54
Adding to the nest egg via personal contributions	55
Easing the pain: Getting a termination payr	
Moving on: Getting a redundancy payment	
Working Out Your Income Tax Rate	
Claiming a Tax Deduction: What's On the Menu	
Proving what you did: Substantiation	
provisions	60
Common types of work-related deduction.	

Chap	ter 6: Living in Your Castle: Main Residence	65
	Addressing the Issue: This is Where I Live	65
	Buying Your Main Residence: Taxation Concessions	
	Keeping What's Yours: Exempt from Tax	
	Sharing What's Yours: When You Have to Pay Tax	
	Maintaining a Home Office	71
Chap	ter 7: Taxing Issues That Affect Your Children	73
	Raiding the Piggy Bank: Taxation of Under 18s	73
	Taxing your children's investment accounts	74
	Taxing the paper round: Employment income	
	Getting a Distribution from a Trust	
	Getting Something Back: Family Tax Offsets	
	Family Tax Benefit (Part A)	
	Family Tax Benefit (Part B)	
	Baby Bonus	
	Child care rebate	
	Education tax refund	81
		- 83
Part III:	Tax-Effective Investments	
	ter 8: Interesting Stuff: Bank Deposits and Tax	85
	ter 8: Interesting Stuff: Bank Deposits and Tax Banking the Return: Interest	85
Chap	ter 8: Interesting Stuff: Bank Deposits and Tax Banking the Return: Interest Interesting Claims	85
Chap Chap	ter 8: Interesting Stuff: Bank Deposits and Tax Banking the Return: Interest Interesting Claims Inter 9: Owning Part of the Company:	85 85 87
Chap Chap	ter 8: Interesting Stuff: Bank Deposits and Tax Banking the Return: Interest Interesting Claims ter 9: Owning Part of the Company: vesting in Shares	85 85 87 89
Chap Chap	ter 8: Interesting Stuff: Bank Deposits and Tax Banking the Return: Interest Interesting Claims ter 9: Owning Part of the Company: vesting in Shares Sharing the Profits: Dividends	85 87 87 87
Chap Chap	Ater 8: Interesting Stuff: Bank Deposits and Tax Banking the Return: Interest Interesting Claims Ater 9: Owning Part of the Company: Vesting in Shares Sharing the Profits: Dividends 'Frankly' my dear	85 87 87 87 89
Chap Chap	ter 8: Interesting Stuff: Bank Deposits and Tax Banking the Return: Interest Interesting Claims ter 9: Owning Part of the Company: vesting in Shares Sharing the Profits: Dividends 'Frankly' my dear Reducing dividend payments: What can I claim	85 87 87 87 89
Chap Chap	Ater 8: Interesting Stuff: Bank Deposits and Tax Banking the Return: Interest Interesting Claims	85 85 87 89
Chap Chap	Ater 8: Interesting Stuff: Bank Deposits and Tax Banking the Return: Interest Interesting Claims	85 85 87 89 90 ?95 96
Chap Chap	Ater 8: Interesting Stuff: Bank Deposits and Tax Banking the Return: Interest Interesting Claims	85 85 87 89 90 ?95 96
Chap Chap In Chap	Ater 8: Interesting Stuff: Bank Deposits and Tax Banking the Return: Interest Interesting Claims Ater 9: Owning Part of the Company: Vesting in Shares Sharing the Profits: Dividends 'Frankly' my dear Reducing dividend payments: What can I claim? Borrowing to build your wealth: Interest payments Taxing Your Gains and Losses Ater 10: Building Your Dreams: Investing in	85 87 87 89 90 ?95 95 97
Chap Chap In Chap	Ater 8: Interesting Stuff: Bank Deposits and Tax Banking the Return: Interest Interesting Claims	85 87 87 89 90 ?95 95 97
Chap Chap In Chap	Ater 8: Interesting Stuff: Bank Deposits and Tax Banking the Return: Interest Interesting Claims Ater 9: Owning Part of the Company: Vesting in Shares Sharing the Profits: Dividends 'Frankly' my dear Reducing dividend payments: What can I claim? Borrowing to build your wealth: Interest payments Taxing Your Gains and Losses Ater 10: Building Your Dreams: Investing in	85 87 87 89 90 ?95 96 97
Chap Chap In Chap	ter 8: Interesting Stuff: Bank Deposits and Tax Banking the Return: Interest Interesting Claims ter 9: Owning Part of the Company: vesting in Shares Sharing the Profits: Dividends 'Frankly' my dear Reducing dividend payments: What can I claim? Borrowing to build your wealth: Interest payments Taxing Your Gains and Losses ter 10: Building Your Dreams: Investing in ticks and Mortar	85 87 87 89 90 ?95 96 97 91
Chap Chap In Chap	ter 8: Interesting Stuff: Bank Deposits and Tax Banking the Return: Interest Interesting Claims ter 9: Owning Part of the Company: vesting in Shares Sharing the Profits: Dividends 'Frankly' my dear Reducing dividend payments: What can I claim? Borrowing to build your wealth: Interest payments Taxing Your Gains and Losses ter 10: Building Your Dreams: Investing in ficks and Mortar	85 87 89 90 ?95 96 97 97 101 101
Chap Chap In Chap	Ater 8: Interesting Stuff: Bank Deposits and Tax Banking the Return: Interest	85 87 89 90 ?95 96 97 97 91 91
Chap Chap In Chap	Ater 8: Interesting Stuff: Bank Deposits and Tax Banking the Return: Interest	85 87 89 90 ?95 96 97 97 91
Chap Chap In Chap	Ater 8: Interesting Stuff: Bank Deposits and Tax Banking the Return: Interest	85 87 89 90 ?95 96 97 97 101 101 101 104 104 104

	Repairing what's yours	
	Going in reverse: Negative gearing	
	Calculating non-deductible expenditure	
	Paying 10 per cent: Goods and services tax	113
Chapt	er 11: Catching Up on Capital Gains Tax	115
Ι	ooking at the Rules: CGT Assets	
	Taxing your stamp collection: Collectables	
	Taxing your underwear: Personal use assets	
	Taxing all your treasures: Your other assets	
(Calculating a Capital Gain	
	Rolling in dough: Capital proceeds	
	Adding up the costs: Cost base Going modern: After 21 September 1999	
	Getting a history lesson: Before	123
	21 September 1999	125
	Crying over spilt milk: Capital losses	
Baut 111	Running a Business	121
rart IV.	Nunning a Dusiness	131
Chapt	er 12: Structuring Your Business for	
IVIA	ximum Gain	133
	ximum Gain	
(Choosing a Business Entity Becoming a Sole Trader: Going It Alone	133 135
(Choosing a Business Entity Becoming a Sole Trader: Going It Alone Inhaling the good news	133 135 135
(H	Choosing a Business Entity Becoming a Sole Trader: Going It Alone Inhaling the good news Exhaling the bad news	133 135 135 136
(H	Choosing a Business Entity Becoming a Sole Trader: Going It Alone Inhaling the good news Exhaling the bad news Forming a Partnership: Sharing the Workload	133 135 135 136
(H	Choosing a Business Entity Becoming a Sole Trader: Going It Alone Inhaling the good news Exhaling the bad news Forming a Partnership: Sharing the Workload Key partnership taxation principles you	133 135 135 136 137
(H	Choosing a Business Entity Becoming a Sole Trader: Going It Alone Inhaling the good news Exhaling the bad news Forming a Partnership: Sharing the Workload Key partnership taxation principles you need to know	133 135 135 136 137 138
(H	Choosing a Business Entity Becoming a Sole Trader: Going It Alone Inhaling the good news Exhaling the bad news Forming a Partnership: Sharing the Workload Key partnership taxation principles you need to know Sharing the good stuff	133 135 135 136 137 138 138 139
(F	Choosing a Business Entity Becoming a Sole Trader: Going It Alone Inhaling the good news Exhaling the bad news Forming a Partnership: Sharing the Workload Key partnership taxation principles you need to know Sharing the good stuff Taking on board the bad stuff	133 135 135 136 137 138 138 139 139
(F	Choosing a Business Entity Becoming a Sole Trader: Going It Alone Inhaling the good news Exhaling the bad news Forming a Partnership: Sharing the Workload Key partnership taxation principles you need to know Sharing the good stuff Taking on board the bad stuff Creating a Company: The More the Merrier	133 135 135 136 137 138 139 139 140
(F	Choosing a Business Entity Becoming a Sole Trader: Going It Alone Inhaling the good news Exhaling the bad news Forming a Partnership: Sharing the Workload Key partnership taxation principles you need to know Sharing the good stuff Taking on board the bad stuff Creating a Company: The More the Merrier Understanding the good bits	133 135 135 136 137 138 139 139 140 141
(F F	Choosing a Business Entity Becoming a Sole Trader: Going It Alone Inhaling the good news Exhaling the bad news Forming a Partnership: Sharing the Workload Key partnership taxation principles you need to know Sharing the good stuff Taking on board the bad stuff Creating a Company: The More the Merrier Understanding the good bits Dealing with the bad bits	133 135 135 136 137 137 138 139 139 140 141 142
(F F	Choosing a Business Entity Becoming a Sole Trader: Going It Alone Inhaling the good news Exhaling the bad news Forming a Partnership: Sharing the Workload Key partnership taxation principles you need to know Sharing the good stuff Taking on board the bad stuff Creating a Company: The More the Merrier Understanding the good bits Dealing with the bad bits Frusting in Trusts	133 135 135 136 137 138 139 139 139 140 141 141 142 143
(F F	Choosing a Business Entity Becoming a Sole Trader: Going It Alone Inhaling the good news Exhaling the bad news Forming a Partnership: Sharing the Workload Forming a Partnership taxation principles you need to know Sharing the good stuff Taking on board the bad stuff Creating a Company: The More the Merrier Understanding the good bits Dealing with the bad bits Frusting in Trusts Examining what's good about trusts	133 135 135 136 137 138 139 139 140 141 142 143 144
(F F	Choosing a Business Entity Becoming a Sole Trader: Going It Alone Inhaling the good news Exhaling the bad news Forming a Partnership: Sharing the Workload Key partnership taxation principles you need to know Sharing the good stuff Taking on board the bad stuff Creating a Company: The More the Merrier Understanding the good bits Dealing with the bad bits Frusting in Trusts	133 135 135 136 137 138 139 139 140 141 142 143 144 144
(F () T	Choosing a Business Entity Becoming a Sole Trader: Going It Alone Inhaling the good news Exhaling the bad news Forming a Partnership: Sharing the Workload Key partnership taxation principles you need to know Sharing the good stuff Taking on board the bad stuff Creating a Company: The More the Merrier Understanding the good bits Dealing with the bad bits Frusting in Trusts Examining what's good about trusts Checking out the evils of trusts Planning Ahead: Business Succession Planning	133 135 135 136 137 138 139 139 140 141 142 143 144 144
(F F (T F Chapt	Choosing a Business Entity Becoming a Sole Trader: Going It Alone Inhaling the good news Exhaling the bad news Forming a Partnership: Sharing the Workload Key partnership taxation principles you need to know Sharing the good stuff Taking on board the bad stuff Creating a Company: The More the Merrier Understanding the good bits Dealing with the bad bits Frusting in Trusts Examining what's good about trusts Checking out the evils of trusts	133 135 135 136 137 138 139 139 140 141 142 143 144 144 146
(F F Chapt On	Choosing a Business Entity Becoming a Sole Trader: Going It Alone Inhaling the good news Exhaling the bad news Forming a Partnership: Sharing the Workload Key partnership taxation principles you need to know Sharing the good stuff Taking on board the bad stuff Creating a Company: The More the Merrier Understanding the good bits Dealing with the bad bits Frusting in Trusts Examining what's good about trusts Checking out the evils of trusts Planning Ahead: Business Succession Planning	

Applying for an Australian Business Number	
Registering for GST	
Getting to Grips with Record Keeping	149
Taking on Employees	
Examining Tax Concessions for Small Business	
Choosing How You Recognise Your Income	
Taking Stock of Things	156
Valuing your trading stock	
Understanding the nitty gritty of trading stock	157
Chapter 14: Reducing Your Small Business Tax Bill	161
Understanding the Rules: What Can I Claim?	161
Getting Specific with Problematic Deductions	163
Writing off your depreciating assets	163
Dealing with bad debts	
Paying interest on borrowings	165
Borrowing expenses	
Losing money by theft	167
Getting a legal opinion: Legal costs	
Getting tax help: Tax-related expenses	
Stamping a lease: Lease document expenses	
Discharging the mortgage	
Claiming a superannuation deduction	
Losing money: Business losses	170
Chapter 15: Collecting Tax for the Government:	
Goods and Services Tax	173
Collecting 10 Per Cent	174
Taxing your sales: What are taxable	
sales (supplies)?	175
Examining input taxed sales (supplies)	
	111
Checking out GST-free sales (supplies)	177
	177 179
Checking out GST-free sales (supplies) Registering for GST	177 179 179
Checking out GST-free sales (supplies) Registering for GST Paying the GST	177 179 179 181
Checking out GST-free sales (supplies) Registering for GST Paying the GST Chapter 16: Living on the Fringe: Fringe Benefits Tax	.177 .179 .179 181 .181
Checking out GST-free sales (supplies) Registering for GST Paying the GST Chapter 16: Living on the Fringe: Fringe Benefits Tax Coming to Terms with FBT	.177 .179 .179 181 .181 .184
Checking out GST-free sales (supplies) Registering for GST Paying the GST Chapter 16: Living on the Fringe: Fringe Benefits Tax Coming to Terms with FBT Calculating the FBT	177 179 179 181 181 184 185
Checking out GST-free sales (supplies) Registering for GST Paying the GST Chapter 16: Living on the Fringe: Fringe Benefits Tax Coming to Terms with FBT Calculating the FBT Determining a Car's FBT	177 179 179 181 181 184 185 185

Chapter 17: Getting Wealthy: CGT and Small Business	. 191
Keeping What You Sow: Tasting the	
Tax Incentive Goodies	191
Qualifying for CGT relief	192
CGT assets that don't qualify for CGT relief	192
Businesses operated through a company or trus	t193
CGT Concessions for Small Business	193
Checking out the 15 year exemption	194
Getting a helping hand: 50 per cent reduction	195
Thinking about retiring: Retirement concession.	196
Transferring your gains: Rollover concession	197

Part V: Thinking Long Term	Part	V:	Thinking	Long	Term	1	Ŷ)	9)
----------------------------	------	----	----------	------	------	---	---	---	---	---

Chapter 18: Preparing for Retirement

U	sing Superannuation	. 201
	Complying and Non-Complying Super Funds	201
	Choosing a Goose to Lay the Golden Egg	
	Doing it yourself: Setting up your own fund	203
	Checking out the rules	203
	Taxing Your Nest Egg	204
	Taxing super funds	205
	Claiming a tax deduction	207
	Making a Contribution: Understanding the Rules	207
	Examining concessional and non-concessional	
	contributions	208
	Getting older: Under and over 65 years	209
	Helping out the boss: Employee contributions	209
	Being in charge: Employer contributions	210
	Working for yourself: Self-employed	
	contributions	210
	Getting due: Government incentives	211
	Getting the Money: Conditions of Release	212
	Maturing nicely: Under 55 years	213
	Reaching your preservation age	214
	Between 55 years and 59 years	215
	Between 60 years and 64 years	215
	Feeling great: Over 65 years	216

Chapter 19: Reaping What You Sow: Receiving a Pension and Government Concessions	217
Paddling the Superannuation Stream: Types of	
Super Pension	218
Learning about transition to retirement per	
Understanding non-account-based pension	
Getting familiar with account-based pensio	
Getting Help: Government Pensions and Allowan	
Getting back what you deserve: Tax offsets Being allowed to keep it: What isn't taxed	
Chapter 20: Death and Taxes: Wills and	
Asset Distribution	
Preparing a Will	
Taxing Your Income	
Sharing Your Pension	
Taxing All Your Treasures	231
Part VI: The Part of Tens	235
Chapter 21: Ten Ways to Minimise Your Tax	
while Keeping the Tax Office Happy	237
Keep Good Records Take Advantage of New Developments	237
Keep Good Records	237 238
Keep Good Records Take Advantage of New Developments Get a Helping Hand from the Tax Office Lose Money the Right Way	237 238 239 239
Keep Good Records Take Advantage of New Developments Get a Helping Hand from the Tax Office Lose Money the Right Way Contribute to a Super Fund	237 238 239 239 239 240
Keep Good Records Take Advantage of New Developments Get a Helping Hand from the Tax Office Lose Money the Right Way Contribute to a Super Fund Claim a Super Tax Deduction	
Keep Good Records Take Advantage of New Developments Get a Helping Hand from the Tax Office Lose Money the Right Way Contribute to a Super Fund Claim a Super Tax Deduction Take Advantage of the Low Income Threshold	
Keep Good Records Take Advantage of New Developments Get a Helping Hand from the Tax Office Lose Money the Right Way Contribute to a Super Fund Claim a Super Tax Deduction Take Advantage of the Low Income Threshold Package Your Salary	
Keep Good Records Take Advantage of New Developments Get a Helping Hand from the Tax Office Lose Money the Right Way Contribute to a Super Fund Claim a Super Tax Deduction Take Advantage of the Low Income Threshold Package Your Salary Tap In to Negative Gearing	
Keep Good Records Take Advantage of New Developments Get a Helping Hand from the Tax Office Lose Money the Right Way Contribute to a Super Fund Claim a Super Tax Deduction Take Advantage of the Low Income Threshold Package Your Salary	
Keep Good Records Take Advantage of New Developments Get a Helping Hand from the Tax Office Lose Money the Right Way Contribute to a Super Fund Claim a Super Tax Deduction Take Advantage of the Low Income Threshold Package Your Salary Tap In to Negative Gearing Account for Income and Deductions Chapter 22: Ten of the Top Retirement Tax Tips	
Keep Good Records Take Advantage of New Developments Get a Helping Hand from the Tax Office Lose Money the Right Way Contribute to a Super Fund Claim a Super Tax Deduction Take Advantage of the Low Income Threshold Package Your Salary Tap In to Negative Gearing Account for Income and Deductions Chapter 22: Ten of the Top Retirement Tax Tips Plan Ahead	237 238 239 239 240 241 241 242 243 244 245 245
Keep Good Records Take Advantage of New Developments Get a Helping Hand from the Tax Office Lose Money the Right Way Contribute to a Super Fund Claim a Super Tax Deduction Take Advantage of the Low Income Threshold Package Your Salary Tap In to Negative Gearing Account for Income and Deductions Chapter 22: Ten of the Top Retirement Tax Tips Plan Ahead Live Within Your Means	
Keep Good Records Take Advantage of New Developments Get a Helping Hand from the Tax Office Lose Money the Right Way Contribute to a Super Fund Claim a Super Tax Deduction Take Advantage of the Low Income Threshold Package Your Salary Tap In to Negative Gearing Account for Income and Deductions Chapter 22: Ten of the Top Retirement Tax Tips Plan Ahead Live Within Your Means Do a Budget	
Keep Good Records Take Advantage of New Developments Get a Helping Hand from the Tax Office Lose Money the Right Way Contribute to a Super Fund Claim a Super Tax Deduction Take Advantage of the Low Income Threshold Package Your Salary Tap In to Negative Gearing Account for Income and Deductions Chapter 22: Ten of the Top Retirement Tax Tips Plan Ahead Live Within Your Means Do a Budget Get Proper Advice	
Keep Good Records Take Advantage of New Developments Get a Helping Hand from the Tax Office Lose Money the Right Way Contribute to a Super Fund Claim a Super Tax Deduction Take Advantage of the Low Income Threshold Package Your Salary Tap In to Negative Gearing Account for Income and Deductions Chapter 22: Ten of the Top Retirement Tax Tips Plan Ahead Live Within Your Means Do a Budget Get Proper Advice Work for the Pension: Transition to Retirement	
Keep Good Records Take Advantage of New Developments Get a Helping Hand from the Tax Office Lose Money the Right Way Contribute to a Super Fund Claim a Super Tax Deduction Take Advantage of the Low Income Threshold Package Your Salary Tap In to Negative Gearing Account for Income and Deductions Chapter 22: Ten of the Top Retirement Tax Tips Plan Ahead Live Within Your Means Do a Budget Get Proper Advice	

xiv Tax For Australians For Dummies, 3rd Edition _____

Take Advantage of the Main Resident	
Exploit Your Winning Edge	
endix A: Taxing the Visitors: Non-R	esidents 253
<i>y</i>	
•	
	CGT Provisions Downsize: Too Big for Comfort Exploit Your Winning Edge

Introduction

A ustralian income tax law can be very complex and difficult to understand. You may need to thumb through two income tax assessment Acts equivalent in size to four telephone books, thousands of income tax rulings and a library full of legal books to find the right answer.

The dominant purpose of the income tax legislation is to raise revenue by levying a tax on taxable income. The tax Acts point out that assessable income minus deductions equals taxable income, and then tell you the rules you need to follow to calculate your assessable income and allowable deductions. The Acts also tell you who must pay income tax and how to work out how much income tax you must pay.

Generally, you have a choice of two ways to solve your tax liability problems: You can either pay a registered tax agent or solicitor who specialises in income tax law, or you can try to find out the answer yourself. If you pay someone, you quickly find that the meter starts ticking the moment you walk through the door. Although seeking professional advice is highly recommended and encouraged, you need never underestimate your own abilities. If you use basic research skills that you acquired during your student days plus the skills you use to do your job, you may be pleasantly surprised at how adept you are at taking on responsibility for your own tax journey.

So, if you have a winning edge — the skills to do basic research — why not have a go? If you can't solve your problem or you lack confidence, at least you tried. And if you do seek professional advice, you're in a position to have a meaningful conversation (especially if the fee is substantial!). As a student once said to me: 'I'll at least be in a position to verify and check the facts out myself and not feel like a fool!'

About This Book

Tax For Australians For Dummies caters for tax beginners and is useful as a quick reference for the more tax-savvy readers. As well as helping you come to terms with the basic principles of income tax law, it also appeals to students who plan to study tax law, because it closely follows the content of a standard course syllabus. The book explains in simple terms core taxation concepts that you need to be aware of when dealing with Australian issues. Throughout the book, case studies reinforce core taxation principles. Also, you have the option of checking out technical information such as references to major fact sheets and income tax rulings that tax professionals use and rely on to solve taxation issues. This level of information is useful to readers who are studying income tax law or who wish to understand how the Tax Office comes to certain tax conclusions in its own interpretation of the tax laws.

Conventions Used in This Book

To keep things consistent and easy to follow, here are a couple of the conventions this book uses:

- Tax terms appear in italics and are closely preceded or followed by an easy-to-understand definition.
- ✓ When I reference tax office publications or provide websites of interest, I include the address in a special typeface like this: www.ato.gov.au.

What You're Not to Read

Here and there throughout this book, you see sidebars — text boxes that are separate from the regular content and feature a grey background. Sidebars include information that's related to the content in the chapter but is also independent of it. You don't have to read them, and your understanding of the chapter's subject matter isn't going to suffer if you don't. While you're not going to miss critical information if you decide to skip them, many of the worked examples are great to come back to at a more relevant time — that is, when you're preparing your own tax return and the like. Other things you can safely skip without worrying are the occasional paragraphs with a Technical Stuff icon beside them. Big surprise, this is stuff for tech-minded readers and represents information that's interesting (downright fascinating sometimes!), but not crucial to your general understanding of the subject matter.

Foolish Assumptions

I wrote this book with some assumptions in mind. I assume

- ✓ You're in one or more of the following categories accountant or adviser on tax, employee, employer, investor, self-employed, retiree, taxation student, or worker in the tax industry.
- ✓ You want simple facts on the complex subject of tax in an easy-to-use format.
- ✓ You want to have on hand the many ways to minimise your tax while keeping the Tax Office happy.
- ✓ You're likely to be aged 18 years and upwards.

How This Book is Organised

This book has seven parts, divided as follows.

Part 1: How You're Taxed in Australia

Part I shows that Australian income tax law uses a formula to tax income. Australian residents are taxed differently to nonresidents, so it's important that you're aware of your residential status for the purposes of income tax legislation. This part also explains what happens if your tax affairs are audited.

Part II: Income from Personal Exertion

If you're an employee and you derive a salary or wage, your employer is required to deduct income tax from your pay and make a contribution to a superannuation fund on your behalf. At the end of the financial year, you need to lodge a tax return for individuals disclosing your taxable income. This part shows that your main residence is exempt from tax and how your children are taxed on income they derive.

Part III: Tax-Effective Investments

In this part, I discuss the key taxation issues associated with investing and their impact on your investment's overall performance. You may be liable to pay tax on investment income and capital gains tax on gains. Further, you may qualify for certain tax deductions and some very handy tax offsets.

Part IV: Running a Business

If you plan on starting a business, you need to come to terms with the complex tax rules associated with operating a business. In this part of the book, you find out about the four ways you can structure your financial affairs and what you must do to comply with the tax Acts. You also discover the benefits you can gain from running a small business. This part also discusses fringe benefits tax and the goods and services tax provisions.

Part V: Thinking Long Term

Planning ahead and covering all your bases makes good financial sense. In this part, you find issues associated with preparing for retirement using superannuation and the taxation of pension options. You also find how your income and assets are taxed after you die and how to reduce the tax burden.

Part VI: The Part of Tens

In this part of the book, I look at ten different ways to help you reduce your tax bill and ten ways to help you live comfortably in retirement.

This part also contains an appendix (Appendix A) which discusses taxation issues for non-residents. I've also created an online appendix (Appendix B) which lists leading tax cases and Tax Office publications. (This online reference is a handy tool if you want to know whether a specific expense is tax deductible or you're studying tax law. You can find this appendix on our website: www.dummies.com/go/taxforaustraliansfd).

Icons Used in This Book

Some people are more visual than others. That's where icons come in handy. This book uses several icons and each has a little titbit of information associated with it. Here's what each icon means.



If you're keen and eager to learn more about tax, this icon points you to handy websites to help you quickly solve tax issues that may come your way.



This icon highlights a change in tax rules that the federal government is proposing for the future. Where possible, fixed commencement dates are given.



Everyone can use a friendly reminder. The Remember icon is a quick and easy way to identify some of the more important tax points that you may want to make note of throughout the book.



Sometimes I get carried away with technical stuff. Some of you are going to find this level of information really interesting; some of you may be bored to tears. Skip it if you wish or use it if you want a more complete understanding of your tax issue.



Tips include tax information that can help you save time or cut down on frustration.



Text flagged with the Warning icon can keep you out of trouble. Serious legal issues encourage you to watch your tax step.

Where to Go from Here

Tax For Australians For Dummies may not be the exciting novel that you read from cover to cover. Rather, you can dip in and out to suit the occasion (tax return time) or when your interest level is piqued (due to a change in personal circumstance or making plans for your retirement).

Each chapter is designed to give you a good overview of a specific tax topic you may be interested in, with case studies to reinforce the learning process.

Tax For Australians For Dummies, 3rd Edition

While sitting in a comfortable chair or at your desk with a cup of coffee, within a matter of minutes you can come to terms with specific issues such as assessable income, deductions, superannuation and business structures. The book also provides a quick summary of the capital gains tax, fringe benefits tax and goods and services tax provisions.

By the way, if you're cramming for an exam or you're not sure about a particular issue, *Tax For Australians For Dummies* can quickly steer you in the right direction and save you much time and heartache! *Note:* Check out a number of leading tax cases and Tax Office publications in Appendix B, which is online at our website: www.dummies.com/go/taxforaustraliansfd. And, if you wish to brush up on a tax term, you can flip to the Glossary for a quick prompt.

Part I How You're Taxed in Australia



'We declare you a free man. Now get back to the chain gang, you're a taxpayer.'

In this part ...

Act 1936 and the Income Tax Assessment Acts to levy tax on taxable income. They're the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 and the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. When you thumb through the 1936 Tax Act you would think it was written in a foreign language. Fortunately, the 1997 Tax Act is in plain English to help you to better understand your tax obligations.

In this part of the book, you find that Australian income tax law is made up of rules and regulations that you need to know and follow. I explain the rules for lodging your annual tax return, how self-assessment works and what happens if your tax affairs are audited.

Chapter 1

Understanding the Australian Tax System

In This Chapter

- Breaking down the tax system
- Progressing through the tax rates and rules
- Determining sources of income
- Paying tax if you're a company

f you find tax a — excuse the pun — taxing subject, you're not alone. Most people are confused by taxes and, of course, would rather not pay them. However, we all know the cliché: Death and taxes are the only sure things in life. So, put another way, you probably need to take some time to understand taxation. This chapter goes over some basic info that you need to understand in order to lodge your tax return in Australia. I explain the basics of the Australian tax system, tell you how to work out sources of income and examine what tax you need to pay if you're set up as a company.

Explaining the Australian Tax System

In Australia, two income tax assessment Acts are used by the federal government to levy tax on taxable income. They're equivalent in size to four telephone books and are the *Income Tax Assessment Act 1936* and *Income Tax Assessment Act 1997*. (The reason for two Acts is because the 1936 Tax Act is gradually being replaced with the more user-friendly 1997 Tax Act.)

Taxing matters: How it all began

In 1915, the Fisher Government introduced an Act to impose a tax on income from personal exertion, income from property and company profits. The major reason given was to help fund Australia's involvement in the Great War. However, after you let such a genie out of the bottle, stopping a politician from continually dipping a hand in your wallet or purse is nigh impossible. The federal government has since introduced three additional taxes — capital gains tax (CGT, introduced in 1985), fringe benefits tax (FBT, 1986) and the goods and services tax (GST, 2000). When you come to think about it, the federal government has just about covered every conceivable way you can be taxed. The only thing it hasn't done is tax the air you breathe. But, wait on, hold your breath ... I'm quite sure some diligent bureaucrat in Canberra is currently examining this possibility!

Understanding Your Income Tax Rates

For resident individuals, tax is levied on worldwide income on a progressive basis, referred to as *marginal tax rates*. Your marginal tax rate can vary between 0 per cent and 45 per cent (marginal tax rates are shown in Chapter 5). This rating system means the more income you earn, the greater the amount of tax you're liable to pay.

Australia has numerous federal, state and territory, and local government taxes that you need to deal with.



The Australian Taxation Office (Tax Office) is the federal government authority responsible for administering Australia's tax laws. To help you meet your legal requirements, the Tax Office regularly issues free-of-charge fact sheets, income tax rulings, tax determinations and interpretative decisions to explain tax issues that need clarification. You can get copies of these fact sheets and tax rulings from your local tax office or you can visit the Tax Office's website (www.ato.gov.au).

Federal taxes

The most important federal taxes include the following:

- Capital gains tax (CGT) is paid on gains you make when you sell assets you own and on the occurrence of certain CGT events. Your main residence is exempt from tax and some other concessions may potentially be available (see Chapter 11 for more).
- Customs duty is paid on certain goods you import into Australia (for example, cameras, perfume, alcohol and cigarettes).
- Excise duty is levied on certain goods manufactured in Australia, such as alcohol and tobacco.
- ✓ Fringe benefits tax (FBT) applies to certain benefits you may receive (for example, your employer provides you with a car for private use). See Chapter 16.
- ✓ *Fuel tax* is levied on petrol.
- ✓ Goods and services tax (GST) is applied to most purchases and sales. See Chapter 15.
- Income tax is paid on income you derive from worldwide sources. See Chapters 5 to 7.
- ✓ The *Medicare levy* is used to help fund the Australian health system. The rate is 1.5 per cent of your taxable income.

In the 2010–11 tax year, if you earned below \$18,839 as an individual or \$31,789 as a couple/family, you were exempt from paying the 1.5 per cent Medicare levy. (*Note:* For each dependent child, the family threshold increases by \$2,919) Rates for the 2011–12 tax year are not available at the time of writing; check the Tax Office website (www.ato.gov.au) for this information.



If you don't have private health insurance, you may be liable to pay an extra 1 per cent Medicare levy surcharge. For the 2011–12 tax year, if your taxable income is above \$80,000 for individuals or \$160,000 for couples/families, the levy applies. (*Note:* The family threshold for the Medicare levy surcharge increases by \$1,500 for each dependent child after the first child.) ✓ Withholding tax is paid on certain income derived by a non-resident.



From 1 July 2012, the federal government is to put a price (or tax) on *carbon emission*, to promote a 'clean energy future' and reduce Australia's carbon pollution.

For the financial year 2011–12 only, the federal government has set a flood levy, to assist with paying for the rebuilding of Queensland after the devastating floods that occurred there in 2011. You're levied 0.5 per cent of your taxable income if you earn between \$50,001 and \$100,000; above \$100,000 and you're charged 1 per cent of your taxable income. By the way — if you earn below \$50,000, or if you received a government emergency relief payment, the levy doesn't apply to you.

State taxes

Following are some of the taxes levied by states:

- Gambling tax is levied on certain gambling transactions (such as licence fees and poker machines).
- ✓ Land tax is paid on some property holdings.
- ✓ Payroll tax is levied on wages and fringe benefits an employer pays employees.
- Stamp duty applies to certain transactions, particularly when you buy a property.

Local taxes

Property valuation and *rates* charges fund local government services (such as rubbish collection).

Taxing Major Income Streams

Income is normally derived from three major sources:

Income from personal exertion, such as salary and wages, bonuses and commissions you earn as an employee, and any allowances you receive (see Chapter 5)

- Income from property and investments, such as interest, dividends, rent, annuities and royalty payments (see Chapters 8 to 10)
- Income from carrying on (running) a business, such as profits you earn from your business activities (see Chapter 12)

Taxing your treasures: CGT assets

You may be liable to pay capital gains tax (CGT) on profits you make when you sell CGT assets such as shares, real estate and collectables. However, just 50 per cent of the capital gain you make is liable to tax if you own the CGT asset for more than 12 months. This concept is discussed in more detail in Chapter 11.



Under the CGT provisions, your main residence is exempt from tax. If you're temporarily absent from Australia, the good news is your main residence continues to be exempt for an indefinite period if the property isn't used to earn assessable income. Alternatively, if you lease the property while you're away, your main residence is exempt from tax for up to six years (for more details, see Chapter 6).

Bringing home the money: International sources of income

As an Australian resident, you're required to disclose income you earn from worldwide sources; non-residents are required to disclose income that has only an Australian source. Unfortunately, the tax Acts don't provide a statutory definition of source. Generally, three key tests are used to determine source of income:

- \checkmark The place where you perform the services
- ✓ The place where you sign the contract to perform those services
- The place of the payment

Checking your residency status

Your residency status determines the amount of tax you're liable to pay — because different tax rules and tax rates apply to residents and non-residents.

A resident of Australia is a person who normally lives in Australia and has a permanent home and job in Australia (commonly known as the *residency test*). In most cases, determining residency is relatively straightforward. But this determination can become a little cloudy if you're absent from Australia for a long time.

Your personal circumstances can change from year to year, so a number of tests may be used to check whether you're a resident. The main tests are

- Do you intend to live in Australia?
- Are you physically present in Australia?
- How long do you stay in Australia each financial year?
- Do you have a family home in Australia?
- Do you have business and family ties in Australia?
- Are your personal assets located in Australia?

As a general rule, if you're out of the country for more than two years and you sever your economic and social ties with Australia (for example, you quit your job and your family goes with you), you're most likely going to be treated as a non-resident for income tax purposes. Of course, after you leave Australia, you can still change your mind and come back in the future. On the other hand, if you migrate to Australia, you're generally considered a local for tax purposes from the date of your arrival, which means you're taxed as a resident from day one, and you gain all the tax concessions available to residents.

If you become a resident of Australia part way during the financial year, you can't claim the full *tax free threshold*. (The tax free threshold is the maximum amount of income you can receive that isn't taxed — see Chapter 5.) You need to pro rata the amount. You can claim one-twelfth of the amount for each month you're in Australia including the month you arrive. For example, if you arrive in Australia on 13 October 2012, at the time of writing your tax free threshold is \$13,650 (\$18,200 \div 12 \times 9 months).

The Tax Office has published Taxation Ruling 'TR 98/17' regarding the residency status of certain individuals entering Australia (such as migrants, academics, students studying in Australia, visitors on holiday and workers with prearranged employment contracts). You can download a copy from the Tax Office website (www.ato.gov.au).